
 

 
 
 
 
February 13, 2018  
 
 
The Honorable Joseph Otting 
Comptroller of the Currency 
Administrator of National Banks 
400 7th St SW 
Washington, DC 20024 
 
The Honorable Martin Gruenberg 
Chair,  
Federal Deposit Insurance Corp 
550 17th St, NW 
Washington, D.C. 20429 
 

Dear Comptroller Otting, and Chair Gruenberg,  

As the primary regulator of nationally chartered banks, we ask the Office of the Comptroller of the 

Currency (OCC) to exercise its authority provided in statute to initiate a hearing to consider charter 

termination of Rabobank, NA. We further ask the Board of Directors of the Federal Deposit Insurance 

Corp. to initiate proceedings to terminate Rabobank’s status as insured depository institution. 

Rabobank, based in the Netherlands, is a multi-national financial conglomerate1 with more than $700 

billion in assets.2 Its US affiliate is the combination of six separate banks now operating under the 

Rabobank brand, serving California with 107 branches with $13 billion in assets.3  

On February 7, 2018, Rabobank National Association “pleaded guilty to a felony conspiracy charge for 

impairing, impeding and obstructing its primary regulator, the Department of the Treasury’s Office of 

the Comptroller of the Currency (the OCC) by concealing deficiencies in its anti-money laundering (AML) 

                                                           
1 About Rabobank, RABOBANK (website visited Feb. 8, 2018) https://www.rabobankamerica.com/About-
Rabobank/The-Rabobank-Group 
2 Interim Report 2017, RABOBANK,(2017) https://www.rabobank.com/en/images/01-interim-report-2017.pdf 
3 Rabobank NA, FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORP, (website visited Feb. 8, 2018) 
https://research.fdic.gov/bankfind/detail.html?bank=23364&name=Rabobank,%20National%20Association
&searchName=RABOBANK,%20NATIONAL%20ASSOCIATION&searchFdic=&city=&state=&zip=&address=&s
earchWithin=&activeFlag=&searchByTradename=false&tabId=2 



program and for obstructing the OCC’s examination of Rabobank,” according to the Department of 

Justice.4 

Rabobank “admitted to conspiring with several former executives to defraud the United States by 

unlawfully impeding the OCC’s ability to regulate the bank, and to obstruct an examination by the OCC 

of its operations throughout California, including its Calexico and Tecate bank branches,” according to 

the DOJ.  “Rabobank admitted [it] . . . allowed hundreds of millions of dollars in untraceable cash, 

sourced from Mexico and elsewhere, to be deposited into its rural bank branches in Imperial County, 

and transferred via wire transfers, checks, and cash transactions, without proper notification to federal 

regulators as required by law.” Rabobank executives then “actively sought to hide and minimize the 

deficiencies in its AML program in an effort to deceive the regulators as to its true state in hopes of 

avoiding regulatory sanctions that had previously been imposed on Rabobank in 2006 and 2008 for 

nearly identical failures.” 56 In its case against Rabobank, the United States charged that defendant 

Rabobank “acted through its officers, directors, employees and agents.” [Emphasis added]. 7 Further, the 

“defendant,” including directors, “knew” that its anti-money laundering “failures between 2009 and 

2012 included … procedures that precluded and suppressed investigations” of further failures. “This 

preclusion and suppression of investigations resulted in. . . not properly monitoring, investigating and 

reporting potentially suspicious transactions that were identified.” 8  

Money laundering makes possible the insidious trade in illegal, harmful drugs that have blighted the 

health of millions of Americans and led to fatal violence on the street. While the U.S. has expended 

billions of dollars on the physical security of the border, and billions more addressing street crime and 

health repercussions, we believe federal efforts to combat money laundering have fallen short. The 

current settlement with Rabobank perpetuates this inadequate response. The bank will pay some $360 

million, a fine effectively borne by shareholders. But it will not face a real penalty. Real penalties can 

establish a deterrent so that Rabobank and other firms will take seriously their efforts to remove 

themselves from the trafficking in illegal drugs.  

National banking law provides for real penalties. Under 12 USC 1818, if the FDIC “determines that an 

insured depository institution [has] engaged or [is] engaged in unsafe or unsound practices,” the FDIC 

shall notify the appropriate regulator of this finding, and thereafter “serve written notice . . . to 

                                                           
4 Rabobank NA Pleads Guilty, Agrees to Pay Over $360 Million, DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE (February 7, 2018) 
https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/rabobank-na-pleads-guilty-agrees-pay-over-360-million 
 
5 Rabobank NA Pleads Guilty, Agrees to Pay Over $360 Million, DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE (February 7, 2018) 
https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/rabobank-na-pleads-guilty-agrees-pay-over-360-million 
6 U.S. v. Rabobank, NA, UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA (Feb. 7, 2018) 
https://www.justice.gov/opa/press-release/file/1032096/download 
7 One of these executives was a former employee of the OCC.--U.S. v. Rabobank, NA, UNITED STATES DISTRICT 

COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA (Feb. 7, 2018) https://www.justice.gov/opa/press-
release/file/1032096/download 
8 U.S. v. Rabobank, NA, UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA (Feb. 7, 2018) 
https://www.justice.gov/opa/press-release/file/1032096/download 



terminate the insurance status of the institution.”9 We ask the FDIC to make such a finding and issue 

this notice.  

Federal statutes specifically identify money laundering violations as grounds for revoking Rabobank’s 

banking charter. As provided under 12 USC 93(d), “If a national bank . . . has been convicted of any 

criminal offense” under the anti-money laundering provisions, “the Attorney General shall provide to 

the Comptroller of the Currency a written notification of the conviction.”  With this, the Comptroller 

“shall issue to the national bank a notice of the Comptroller’s intention to terminate all rights, privileges, 

and franchises of the bank . . . and schedule a pre-termination hearing.”10  The Comptroller is directed 

to weigh the role of directors and “senior executive officers” in the violations. (Further, the Comptroller 

may revoke a charter under 12 USC 93(a) “If the directors of any national banking . . . knowingly permit 

any of the officers, agents, or servants of the association to violate” basic banking laws. Such action 

must be adjudicated in district court in a suit brought by the Comptroller.11) Since the US charges that 

Rabobank “acted” through “directors,” then we believe Comptroller should consider whether these 

section applies and if so, also take the appropriate action to revoke Rabobank’s charter.   

A key question is whether directors were “knowing.” According to US v Rabobank, Rabobank retained a 

consultant in 2012 to examine compliance with money laundering law. The consultant identified 

numerous compliance deficiencies. On Feb 5, 2013, the consultant presented this report to the board. 

Separately, during this time, a bank employee identified as “Executive D” also attempted to highlight 

problems with management with the board. On March 6, 2013, Executive D sent an email “to a board 

member suggesting the board conduct its own inquiry.” Her supervisor placed her on leave. In July, 

2013, Rabobank terminated Executive D. 12 (Whistleblower protections established within the Dodd-

Frank Act and the Sarbanes Oxley Act prohibit employers from retaliating against employees who report 

financial violations, including fraud against shareholders of publically traded companies.) 

Further, the Comptroller entered a consent order in December, 2013 that required Rabobank to 

establish a compliance committee of the board composed of at least three directors. This committee 

was required to write a quarterly report describing how it would achieve “full compliance” with anti-

money laundering laws.13  The 2013 consent decree further ordered the bank to retain an independent 

consultant to examine the firm’s money laundering procedures. We are not privy to the directors’ 

reports to the OCC as provided under the 2013 consent decree, but believe they contain ready evidence 

that would inform whether the directors were “knowing” of Rabobank’s compliance failures.  

                                                           
9 12 USC 1818 (a) (2) https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/12/1818. Also: 
https://www.fdic.gov/regulations/laws/rules/1000-900.html 
10 See 12 USC 93(d) at https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/12/93 
11 12 USC 93, at https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/12/93 
12 U.S. v. Rabobank, NA, UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA (Feb. 7, 2018) 
https://www.justice.gov/opa/press-release/file/1032096/download 
13 In the Matter of Rabobank NA, COMPTROLLER OF THE CURRENCY (Dec. 5, 2013) 
https://www.occ.gov/static/enforcement-actions/ea2013-191.pdf 

https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/12/1818


 

Rabobank misconduct has spanned numerous operations. Unscrupulous trading practices involving the 

manipulation of the LIBOR currency rate led to a $1 billion fine.14  

Federal regulators have brought severe sanctions against smaller banks, and it should bring the same 

penalties to larger ones. We reject the assertion that some banks are ”too big to jail,” an observation 

that bringing equal justice to large banks would destabilize the financial system. In practice, revoking 

Rabobank’s charter and termination of insurance would provide that this California bank could operate 

with new owners.. In fact, Rabobank has reportedly sought to sell this bank. 15 This would actually lead 

to less concentration and more competition in this important market.  

We ask that the Comptroller and the FDIC faithfully implement the clear intent of statutes designed to 

ensure integrity in our financial system. Refusing to do so would be an abdication of the agencies’ 

responsibilities under the law.  

For questions, please contact Bartlett Naylor at bnaylor@citizen.org.  

 

Sincerely,  

 

Public Citizen 

                                                           
14 Sara Webb, Dutch Rabobank fined $1 billion over Libor scandal,  REUTERS (October 29, 2013) 
https://www.reuters.com/article/us-rabobank-libor/dutch-rabobank-fined-1-billion-over-libor-scandal-
idUSBRE99S0L520131029 
 
15 Tom Schoenberg, A Banker Who Helped Mexican Drug Money, BLOOMBERG (Dec. 18, 2017) 
https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2017-12-18/rabobank-ex-manager-is-aiding-u-s-probe-of-
mexican-drug-cash 
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